M. CARL ANDREWS

During his student years at William and Mary (1923 to 1927),
Carl Andrews was involved in two endeavors that he would later
pursue. He was a staff member on the Flat Hat for all four years,
serving as editor in his senior year. At the same time he was
a student waiter in the dining hall, and in 1972 he helped found
the Order of the White Jacket, an alumni organization of student
waiters. He spent most of the years betwemn graduation and retire-
ment on the Roanoke World-News, where he ultimately was editor.

Always a William and Mary supporter Mr. Andrews served on
the alumni board and from 1958 to 1966 was a member of the Board
of Visitors. In this interview, taped at his home in Roanoke, he

discussed his experiences and associations with the college.
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M. Carl Andrews

June 10, 1976 Roancke, Virginia

Williams:

Andrevs:

Williams:

Andreus:

I know one of the things that you were éctivew «

involved in and that was being a student waiter. What were
your duties in the dining hall like?

Qur duty of course was to serve a given number of tables.
Usually it would be three tables of o dozenAC“Eexv o:*twelve)
students to a table., The second year I waited tables . =

I  had three tables of girls: ©One was the table of the

( KaPFa. ALPh)

Kappa Kappa Gamma L. dzge. was theﬂ?hetas>and then I

5
Now ~
had a table between those two of aéaé sorority girlss I
“thest
told themA: was to keep the peace between them. the

[bolles
first year I waited& I had freshman men ,and they almost

worked me to death. Everybody tried to avoid that if pos-
sible because freshmen had a reputation for eating every-
thing in sights they would eat 1t as long as you hrought
it to them. The girls were more or less picky about the
food. Tﬁey didn't like some of the college food,and
they!d wind up by going to 8ollege @orner to the
place we called the Pocahontas Tea Room and have a sandwich
to tide them over, so to speak. We had to set the table and
clean off the dishes after the meal,

Did you serve family-style?

in
It was usually servedﬂbig dishes -~ yes, fanily style.



wed
Then when they were through& clean it off and find time to

eat ourselves. Sometimes 1f they would dawdle over their
food you would have a pretty close shave

(for example at lunchtime) in getting your tables cleaned
off, getting your own meal eaten)and getting to class right
afterwards, But nevertheless, locking back on it, it was a
lot of fun in a way., It was work and you had td be there
at every meal. Soﬁetimes they complained to the waiters
abouzi%ood. We didn't have anything to do with that. We
just got what they gave us in the kitchen and tock it in.

I noticed that nobody starved to death in spite of the com-
plaints about the food.

Williams: Did you ever wait on President Chandler's table?

Andrevs: I can't recall that I ever did wait on his table. He usually
had a regular waiter, and the waiter would pick whgéver he
wanted for his substitute. I don’t'recall that I ever
waited on hims I waited on others in the faculty.

Williams: The faculty took their meals in the dining hall as well?

Andrews: Yes. In my student days -- the first two years at least --
the President had a table in the main dining hall, ~ It was
right in front of the doors to the kitchen, So he could not
only hear what was going on in the kitchen, but he could
survey everybody that was eating there. Trinkle
Hall was built ~after an old building we
called Penniman burned down. Maybe somebody has told

you about that. That was a World War I barracks brought
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Williams:

Andrews:

Williams:

Andrevws:

Williams:

Andrevs:

from Penniman Gamp)and that had the freshman dining hall intt

as well as a number of rooms. When Penniman burned one
summer they got an emergency account from the state and
built what was called Trinkle Hall, That was quite an
improvement over the old facilities’because all we had before
was the Penniman building and the original dining hall,
which was very small.. . that is used now for a hot dog
stand or something isn't it?

I really don't know. I'm not that familiar with that end

of campus,to tell you the truth.

I've forgotten what they call it, the Wigwam or something,
At one time the Wigwam was over there, but I think now it's
in the Campus Center. I'm not really sure.

Well, all of those developments have come later. We had our
meals at the time they set aside. If we didn't eat then, we
didn't eat,unless we wanted to buifaowntown. And not too
many could afford to go downtown and eat. T couldn't have
gotten through if I hadn't worked in the dining hall,and

I'm sure most of the others,too.

Several others I've talked to have said the same thing)and it
strikes me that a number of the men there . about the time
you were have become conspicuously successful people,
I wondered to what you would attribute that?

Well, I'11l tell you,Miss Williams, I believe fundamentally

that it taught all of us the value of a dollar and the value
ﬁ}VeAf\

./\

of giving work in return for that dollar &hen we were
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the opportunity to wait on tables for our board and room.

e —

:ihat was a great step forward for many young

S -

e

men who otherwise couldn't have gone to college. .
T don*t know whether anybody has ever mentioned this
to you or not)but a good many of the waiters were athletes.

Al

{,;;fhat was what was a scholarship in those days -- a job
ig the dining hall. They didn't get any money for playing
football or basketball or money under the table or anything
else)whers%;t is done at many institutions todayf . No

doubt about it. They worked for their meals just like all

the rest of us. The one concession that was made was when
they were away on a trip with the team the athletic
association would pay their substitute. But on the whole

T think the student waiter had a good lesson in life as to
working for what he wanted. It taughtidw\the value of a dollar,

N
to conserve his time, how to organize it so that he

cégid study and do the work and do other activities. I did

a great many other things in addition to that. 4nd I think
that is the secret behind the success of the 8rder of the
White Jacket we finally founded. 411 of those men have great
recollections of their student days)and without exception TheyM
tell you that that taught them a great deal in beginning

life., They learned that there is value and dignity in work
and giving an honest day'!s work for an honest

dollar)as we used to say a good many years ago. 1 never

knew anybody that shirked his work. He couldn't get away



Williams:

Andrews:

with it. He was assigned tables té wait on,and he had to
cover that. Sometimes one would fill in for another
who was having problems of one kind or another. Bul I
think in many ways it's unfortunate that the days of the
old dining hall have been eliminated. Everything is cafe-
[sty\e]
terigxnow)as you probably know. So 1it's a different sit-
uation, but nevertheless those that work in the cafeteria
do equally as hardiwork as we did,
You mentioned the Order of the White Jacket. - Let me slip
in here. where did the initiative come from for the found-
ing of that organization?
Well, there were several of us who were classmates in the
class of '27 who often talked about forming an organization
of former student waiters. The.g;%gggggzitnes)besides me ,
were Art Matsu, our famous Japanese-American quarterback,
and Dr. Lee Todd of Quinwood, West Virginia., Dr. Todd has
succeeded me as president of the @rder now. ~ Me wrote
back and forth over the years} the writing I suppose mainly
was between Art Matsu and myself| and they kept begging me
to do the work. They knew that I was interested in iﬁ)hot
and I told them I didn't have the time to do it while I
was still working it once I retired I did go right to work
on it. .  &s you know wve finally got the organization
formed in 1972 -- in October:ifstarted out with sixty-eight
attending the first meeting as a result of the letters I

sent out to everybody I could think of and announcements in



the Alumni Gazette5 . now we have grown to over A00. Ve

have included)of course, girls who have worked in the cafe~
teria in recent years and also decided to admit former stu-
dents who had worked at dining halls and restaurants in
Williamsburg, They were doing the same kind of work}although
they didn't work for the eollege; why)they certainly were
eligible. The same was true of any who waited on tables in
fraternity houses and sorority hoﬂsesjfﬁih:dfew of those.
So the idea has caught on and been very popular. It is an
organization that I think means s great deal to the college
and probably will more and more as time goes by, We
havgf?;quiries from at least a dozen other universities who
are interested in forming chapters,and we may get around to
that before long. It's a matter,just like it was with us, ot
having somebody who is interested enough to do the ground-
work. We hope to have a room in the Alumni House desig-
nated as the White Jacket room. We're trying to raise the
money now to furnish it.

Williams: You mentioned fraternity and sorority waiters. When you were
there did the fraternities and sororities eat in the houses,

Fed 1

Or. were theyAin the dining hall,too?

Andrews:  Not when I was there, but later they did have some dining
facilities in some of the larger fraternity houses., I know

my own{/Phi Kappa Taq)did. éﬁy mother was housemother there

one year:) Not 211 of them had that. And then some of the
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Williams:

Andrews:

Willians:

Andreuws:

Williamss

Andrews:

Williams:

Andrews:

Williams:

Andrews:

sororities had their dining halls.

I knew the sororities did.

And they had student waiters. I might say this Miss Williams,
I never found anybody among the student body who tock z su-
perior attitude towards a student waiter or loocked down on
him because he was working serving them. Nobody really thought
anything about iﬁ)as far as I can remember. And there cer-
tainly was no social distinction because I freguently dated
girls that I waited on in the dining hall.

A good point to make.

I thought a great deal of all of them, mighty fine people.

And we gll have remained friends through the years. I see

some of them every now and then. The organization of this
thems

- Order of the White Jacket has caused a lot of«fet?e«\bem

I imagine so, I imagine so. Were you walting on tables the
day that President Coolidge came?

Yes, but I can't remember where I was. I wasn't waiting on
him. Now as I recall, Coolidge and Byrd(Governor Harry F.)
were there in May of '26.

The same day, right.

There are pictures in my anmual of that.. . Fhey awarded them
honorary degrees at the same time. That's the first time
I'd ever seen the president)as far as I can remember. I
have some pictures here of that. Yes, there they are.

Ch yes, oh yes.

William and Mary I think has given a degree to just about

*Tu\ms ‘o Pickores in 1937 Celeninl BEabo .




every president since the First World War. You probably have
a better record of that than I do. There may hsve been one
that we missed in there, I've forgotten.

Williams: I really can't recall ofﬁ:hand if they did. Harding got
one. (oolidge got one. Hoover got one down at Yorktown.
Roosevelt, I would think got one at M. QSrﬁan‘s
inaugé@ration. Truman got one.

Andrews: It might be that Kennedy was the one they missed.

Williams: Yes, Kennedy I think was the only one. ZKennedy was the
one they missed. But I had wondered if you had been in the
dining hall that day because I had heard thet was a very
gala event at William and Mary.

Andrews: Qf course ‘that was in Trinkle Hall. I've even forgotten
whether - - the president had him in the little
private dining hall or notjifSeems to me that he was at =2
special table oct with the students.

Williams: That would be exciting.

Andrews: I don't really remember. It's been so long ago.

Williams: Do you remember the day that old Phi Beta Kappa Hall was
dedicated because I've heard that was also a very special
event.

Andrews: Yes, I was there then. I don't remember too many details
about it. I remember when it burned)too.

Williams: Oh, yes. That was apparently a memorable thing, too.

Andrews:  That was while school was not in session, I believe.

Williams: Right. It was over Christmas vacation.



Andrews: I don't think they ever did find out what
caused it, But in a way it ., °  was a
blessing because it probably was the worst
guditorium ever built by the hand of man.
It had a flas floor; it had a balcony around
both sides and the back; and the acoustics
were just absolutely nil . I don't know why
they built it like they did, Anyhow, the new
Phi Beta Kappa Hall is a %ast improvement over
that. Theg dido’t oave bob just a little bib ob theeld boilding.
Williams: When you were there as a student were the
students conscious that Dr., Chandlerts building
program meant a new day for William and Mary,
or ig that something you only see in hindsight?
Andrews: Well, I know this: when 1 entered, the physical
facilities of the college were slight. All of
us, I think, were aware that Dr., Chandler was
doing everything he could to get money to build
hiore buildings. There was a great deal of squawk-
ing about nob having enough dormitory space, not
enough classroom space, no auditorium in which
to meet, and no real'gymnasium. Blow Gymnasium
was built while I was a student. I remember
running around the tfack many a time under ’ the
roof, afraid I'd fall through the rail and hit
the floor.
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That'!'s where the track team practiced in the
winter. It was a very small track, although it
seemed big in those days.
But Dr., Chandler did a magnificent job

in building the new college. He took the college
as he received it from Tyler, who had also done
the best job he could in the wake of the Civil
War, and carried it into this century. I often
think we don't give those men enough credit for
what they did against greabt odds with very little,
Chandler built a rather modern plant in his day
which . has been the nucleus for what we have now.
On the new campus I'm sorry the architecture
does not match the old, but that was a matter of
financing, as I understand it. The state just
wouldn't permit any more bullding along the Wren
lines, with the dormer windows and so on. They
consideped that wasted space and wasted money.

Williams: But did the students appreciate Dr, Chandler ot -thetime
for what he was doing?

Andrews: I don't say that all did, but a great many of

us did realize that he was doing a good job
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in trying to build the physical plant with very
little, just what he could pump out of the leg-
islature every bwo years.éfﬁhandler was a tough
taskmaster; he had the reputatioh of being pretty
rough. He had pretty strict rules that he saw
to it were enforced. I think looking back at
some of those rules now would be strange to the
modern generation., If we had dates we had %o
have the girls back in the dormitory by 10:005
when the curfew bell rang. You could stay out

a 1itt1e later on Friday and Saturday nights,
when wgfgpecial dances{ card dance%% which were
always the most beautiful social event;;i%gﬁ?%s
think today's generatien misses, It was a for-
mal dance. We usually ran those until midnight.
I can remember too you didr't hold hands with
girls on campus~--you didn't touch them at all.

e

inst the rules; you got

a
p—

That was strictly ag
a severe reprimasnd, to say the 1east)if you
were caught doing things like that. That was
a real no-no, There were other rules that
would seem nonsensical to todaw's generation.

But then that was a part of the system.
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I don't think many of us paid too much atention
to it; we obeyed the rules and that was 1t}

We knew we'd be in truunble if we didn't, and
Dr. Chandler would be right on our necks. The
school was small enough then--never over about
1200 or 1300 in my day--that the president knew
gvery student, boy or girl.

I might add there that to me a small college
was much preferable from the standpoint of social
life., Every student knew every other student,
¥ou spoke to them on the campus; it's something
that!'s missing today. It's hard to explain, but
I always feel strange when 1 go down and walk
acrogs the campus and students - pass by and
look at you and won't say a word. I often speak
to them, and they seem surprised. But that was
the aduantage of a small school, I don't like
a big assembly-line university at all.

You had a relationship with your professors,
too. You knew every member of the fawvulty , whether
you took a course under him or not, and you knew

him fairly well. There were several of my professors
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thstT just greatly admired. One in particular
I was friends with was Dr, Havilah Babcock,
who taunght English (short stories). He had
charge of what Journalism classes there were.,
He was also the advisor of the Flat Hat, which
I was editor of my last year; actually I was
on the staff all four years in college. Bab-
cock and I were such close friends that I freguently
visited his home; I went with him on trips
when he went to teach extension classes in
Noffolk and Rictmond. We were practically
buddies, {I've visited him since down at the
University of South Caroclina, where he went to
teach, I saw him right after World War Il1; he
died not too long after that.) But he was a
dear friend and a great inspiration to me.
He used to tell me that I turned in good papers;
I had a portable typewriter,and I typed every-
thing. You'd usually get about ten points more
would
if you had a typed paper. Heﬂtell me, "That
was a good paper, but I didn't give you as
much as you deserye-;people might not like it
because we're such good friends." So if he

gave me a 90, I knew that was probably a 95.
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He was a great fellow. He wrote a number of
books, and he loved outdoor life. (Discussion
of Dr, Babcock's books.) I thought a great
deal of him.

Of course he wasn't the only professor
that I was fond of. I think of a number of
faculty whgzg lot of influence on my life
as to the things I studied and the interest
I took. TFor example, Dr. John Garland Pollard
was professor of government and citizenship.

I took every course Dr, Pollard offered; par-
ticularly he interested me in Virginia govern-
ment. He was an expert at it since he had
been attorney-general of the state before he
came to William and Mary. He bturned out %o

be a natural when they were looking for some-
bodykto follow Byrd during the depression and
"sit on the 1lid," as they put it, because
there was no money to spend. But he did have
to run the government and he knew it. He could
do a good job,.

Another one of my professors I loved thro_ugh

the years was Dr. Dick Morton. We were very good
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friends, I first knew him when he taught me
Virginia history. We had the class in the old
chapel. I think he had the freshman class divided
into two sections. 1t was a tremendous job lecturing
to a class that large in a little old flati’board
chapel. But he made Virginia history tive for
most of us; those who paid attention learned a
great deal. Over the years 1 kept in touch with
Dr, Morton; until his death I always tried to
visit him when I was in Williamsburg. He was
a very fine men. Another thing about him: T
used to attend the little Presbyterian church,
which was a little wooden building not far from
Bruton Parish,down: on Palace Green. Dr. Morton
gnd I were the tenor section. I never did dig-
cover what happened, but some years after I
left he left the Presbyterian churéh and went
to Bruton Parish and became a wheel over there.
He was a fine professor.

Williams: You mentioned Babcock--were you in his class

that revived the Virginia Gagette?

Andrews: Yes, but I was working in all my spare time
on the Flat Hat, so I didn't have an opportunity

to work on the Gazette.



Willlams:

Andrews:
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Was that from student initiative or was that
his idea?
It was his idea, and he tried to get all his
ook Wish
class interested in helping, He was well aware,

of course, that I had all I could do with the

Flat Hat. He used to come to the Flat Hat office,

which was & cubbyhole in what we called the Cit-
izenship Building (it had been converted from
the gymnasium they had had "-back in the Tyler
administratiac). He'd frequently come over and
shoot the breeze with me in the Flat Hat office.
Being our advisor he was supposed to keep pretty
close tcuch with everything that went in the
paper, but he told me that he wesn't any censor
and that he'd rely on my good common sense notb
to write the wrong things and to see that the
news got in properly. I don't think he ever
demanded to see anything we'd written; some=-
times 1'd show him things that I'd written.

I remembe%?éne time that I came closest

to getting in Dubch with the administratioh was
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Andrews:
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when I wrote an editorial concerning the time that was
spent by our professors“ :teaching extension classes in

end prow‘: News >
Richmond and Norfolk a among other places. Very frequently
it was rough on them to go some place at night (say in
Richmond or Norfolk) and then come to teach the next day.
Students are pyetty sharpi they could tell that the man
was tired. And I wrote an editorial entitled; "% What
Price Extension." That was the one and only one that
Dr. Chandler ever got after me about. He gave me a
little lecture about it. The funny part of it was that
half of the facu?gyibcmato me offwthe«record, saying
the editorial was Jjust what they needed. They thought
something needed to be done ) tee mech was expected e Chem.
Eventually they got around to hiring people to teach
extension, which in turn led to a better type of regime
at R.P.I. and the Norfolk division and built them up
into branches. Of couse, they were still that when
I later became a member of the Board of Visitors.
On the Flat Hat was there anything in the production oyf‘
it that would be different from the way it would be done
today==certainly printing processes ‘ are different by now.
There was no printing plant in Williamsburg, of course.

The paper came out on Frxiday, as I recall. We had to

have 21l our copy ready and get it down to the printing
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Andrews:

Williams:

Andrews s

18

company at Hampton (the Houston Printing Company in
Hampton) on Wednesday night or Thumsday morning. Then
they would set it and do their own proSifreading (we
never had a chance to read our proof, so .any errors thsc
got in, weéra too bad). They did a good job., The
paper was delivered by truck on Friday and distributed
that day. T understand that things are a little differ;
ent now with the printing procedure. We didnft have

many illustrations because they used to cost so much,

and they had to be ~made by somebody elae besides the
printing company. lhe engraver weuld be From ancther company .
That's why there arentt many picturesin the Flat Hat from
that era.

Yes, that's true of any paper of that day. It was not
until they established their own engraving plants that
things were different. [Discvcsion o} illugtrsbians {n Roscke poper. ]
Was the paper supported simply by student fees plus adver~
tising?

Yes: Most of the merchants in Willlamsburg would take

an advertisement in the Flat Hat. Some .few ., like
Casey's, would advertise their goods, but for most of

them it was a small complimentary card., It helped us

break even. Incidmtal]y) the business manager when I



was editor my senior year was Cotton Rawls (Dr. E. Cotton
Rawlé?f Stamford, Connecticut), still a very close and
dear friend; I hear from him every now and then,and he
gets back to some of the reunions. He'!s also a member
of the White Jackets.

Williams: Was your readership just intercollege, or was it a little
bit wider than that?

Andrews: The student body and the faculty, and that was about it.
Not many in town took it, except the merchants)and I
think they got a copy if they took an ad of a certain
size. They were our salvation becawe I don't think
the student fees would have put out too much of a news?
paper.

The Flat Hat when I entered was a little foure
column paper. It stayed that way for three years, and
then Cotton Rawls and I got together anddef:: Ae%e were
going to increase it to five columna(ib regular tabloid
sisz whi. ch we di&o We got a new masthead. The paper
has been that size or larger ever sincektheno

Williams: This is a question that I often ask pedple who have been
involved with the student newspaper: would you say that
the Flat Hat in the period that you're talking about (the

mid«1920s) was reflecting student opinion, or was that its purpose?
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You mean editorially?

Williams: Editorially or otherwise.

Andrews:

Well, we tried to cover in the news everything that was
newsworthy. We tried to encourage organhzations to have
reporters or somebody who would give us the information.
Usually if an event didn't gel covered it was because
the officers of that group didn®t let us know or didn't
furnish information for us (we couldn'tlmve somebody at
every meeting). On the whole I don't think we had any
real complaints about the paper during my time. Editor-
ially we wrote on the things that we thought were impore
tant. Mostly they were on student affairs or things f
around town; we didn't engage in always criticizing the
administration=~faults that I have noticed in the Flat
Hat ig:;aécent years. As a newspaperman I have a good
deal of criticism of the Flat Hat in more recent years.
It's become a very poorly edited and written affair,
engaging in vulgarity and four-letter words that were
absolutely unnecessary, apparently included in editorials
and news stories to try and provoke the administration
or shock them--IL don't know what else because they have
no real meaning--no good purpoée at all. I even wrote

a letter to one of the editors giving him a piece.
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of my mind after forty~some years in the newspaper field.

I think perhaps one difficulty in turning out a good
college newspaper at a place like William and Mary is the
lack of proper journalism courses to teach what a news-
paper is and what itfs supposed to do. Too many over
the years have gotten the idea that it was just a play-
thing and that they could do as they darn pleased and pay
no attention to what the student body thought. In my
one ciiticism I wrotej%wﬂm-thehejr tried to explain

that actuallytheyhad a captive audience because the
students had to pay for it; they therefore should be
the voice of the students and not just themselves. Thgy
owed that much consideration to the students. (I don't
know how much of an impression I made, but sometimes
you have to get those things off your chest.)
You mentioned the journalism courses; were you opposed
Vto it when Mr. Bryan abolished the journalism courses?
Yes, I was. I felt that the jourmalism courses should
have remained, if for no other purpose than to
educate . those who afe taking part in student publi~
cations. Williamsburg was in a good position between

Norfolk and Richmond to acquire the use of facilities.
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a
I didn't like the abolishment of that orhalnumber of
things that happened during the Bryan administration Hot
{n those d‘aﬁs
I didn't approve of. There was too much emphasig\on
the social atmosphere and not enough on tle hand work.
dn—-these—days:

Williams: Let me ask you this: you became editor of the newspaper
here in Rosnoke. Itve thought it somewhat umasual that
you were on the alumni board when it voted for Charlie

[othletia investigation]
McCurdy not to continue publishing thgxarticles in the

Alumni Gazette. Did you have conflicting feelings?

Andrews: That was a very bad situation there. I was torn between
my feelings for Charlie and what I felt was the proper
thing to do. Charles was using the Gazette to atbtack
the athletic program from his own personal viéwpoint,
énd it antagonized a great many;:f;mni, particularly
those that had been connected with sports or supporters
of it. So we had a great deal of discussion about the
situation, and it looked like itfell to me to try to put
over to Chariie, who was a good friend and I hope still

(?Uﬁisﬁaﬁf the Gazette,

that it represented all the alumni, not just those who

is, that the alumni society was

were critical of the sports programlfuni that the alumni

board as the elected representatives of the alumni in general
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were therefore the publishers of this newspaper)and it
was up to them to set the policy. I explained that that's
the way it operates in the news world. It's operated
that way with me for years; the owner. of the paper (the
publisher) would sit down with me and discuss things,

and we'd determine whagrﬁolicies should be. Then he'd
leave the writing of the editorials up to me, relying

on my ability in the light of what he had said to follow
that pattern. 7You don't have to write what you don't
believe in; no editor worth his salt has ever done that.
In other words, if I hadn't approved of itk policy I could
have resigned. Charlie, though, was in a position where
he was in direct conflict with the board as : determinees
of the pd licy of the alumni society as to its own pub-
lication. So that was what the crux of it was. I always
féit badly that Charlie felt he had to resign, but it
happens occasionally even in newspapers thaéié%%flict
comes about, and thends nothing else =@v for a man te deo
but to get out if he doesn't like it. That settled

the problem.
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Williams: I alsofnow that in 1955/ you'll probably recall)
that there was something of a ruckus: between Admiral
Chandler and the students. It was called various things;
some called it the ‘Beer Protests:)I was very much intrigued
with a report that you made, on your own apparently;
I wonder why you did undertake this?

Andrews: Well, that was before I became a visitor. Ihf\i O e
alumi board for six years and. like all alumni
I took note of what was going on down there and these
protests about Chandler, & great many of the students

. Jaceused hm ol

were calling him a waval dicator,dfrying to run William
and Mary like a battleship. I knew enough about the
problems that Chandler had to know that he had a real
situation to deal with in that discipline had practically
disappeared during the previous administratiéﬁﬁil
might say parenthetically that I had a great deal to
do with the naming of Dr. Pomfret as president,
because that matter got into politics. I took the matter vp
directly with Senator Byrd(fSenio:) and told him that
the Byrd organization was being used by his lieutenant,
E.R.Combs, to try to force the election of Combs’s
nephew, who was then President of Mary Washington College,
regardless of what the committeroff the Board of Visitors
had recommended. I told him that if that happengd there

was going to be a trememdous stir and it was going to do
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the Byrd organization a lot of harm. He gave me a very
courteo_as reply in which he said that he was not aware
that anything like that was going on(ﬁif it were) and
indicated that he would look into it. When it came to

a showdown, the report of the committee nominating Dr.
Pomfret for President was accepted, as I recall, by

one vote. That report was given by George Scott Shackelford,
who was from Roanoke; he was chairman of that committee.
I felt that that was an important step that we got a
real educator in there as president of the college,

and a very honorable and competent man.

Williams: Do you think Senator Byrd had acted upon what you had
to say?

Andrews: I think he blew the whistle on Combs; that's my personal
feeling. As you say, that was totally on my own initiaiﬁua) bt
ﬁihink I spoke for a great many alumni with whom I had
talked. It was general knowledge what Combs was
trying to dq)and there was anger all over the state,

That's why I did what I did. \J/TZ" Dr. Pomfret is a

mightly fine gentleman, ;good educator; I don't think

there is any better, but he was not an administrator

or a dié?plinarian. The students, just likezgigood racehqi}s%i

get the bit in their teeth and go to town. Discipline
ﬁtfmivé}_

got pretty bad. When.ﬁqi Chandler came in, that created

another situation because anybody who got to be a vice-

is

. geing s Yl e .
admiral . > to be a disciplinarian. He decided he
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wasn't going to take any guff from the students .. -
trying to tell him what to do and how to run the tollege.
The Board of Visitors had put him in there to correct the
situation and try to get some order, so he proceeded to
do that. In the beginning, I didn't like the idea of
putting a non:educator in there, but later I came to
know Chandler very well, ie became gciod friends, and 1. "lxeip&i with a
tek o his programs over the y‘eaa.:c's)/f»}h:‘.](.\,e‘J \I?‘;Eigs on the
Board of Visitors. We had a particular problem; you
may remember that he was made dhancellor when the General
Assembly formed the Colleges of William and Mary, which
was an idea that I never thought a whole lot of.
There was William and Mary and the Norfolk division
and RPI, Christopher Newport, which we had formed,
and Richard Bland. So they insisted,against the feelings
of the Board):\ setting up the Colleges of William
ang‘fary; we would have rather had it the way it was.

Williams: Do you think the Admiral would have liked it) too?

Andrews: I think he would have probably liked it the way it was.
We named him the ghancellor of all of them. In two years
the General Assembly completely reversed itself and
Jjust wiped out the Colleges of William and Mary, which m%lt.
that Chandler was out because we had elected Paschall
as President of William and Mary. I never told anybody outside

of the board about this before, but we had a meeting of
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the board after this all had transpired)and I asked
to speak undsr a personal privl%i%e status, I called
their attention to the fact that Admiral Chandler had
given up a vice-admiralcy in order to come back to the
¢ollege when he was asked to take over the Presidency.
That mﬁ?h that he would sacrifice in retirement pay
a consider%ible sum-.several thousand dollars. I felt
that it was a matter of honor for every member of the
Board of Visitors ta see that he didn't suffer for that.
That's why we retained him in an advisory capacity
for about eighteen months more until he would acquire
enough time for the state pension which would help
make up the difference between the retirement pay of a
tear admiral and a vice-aimiral. I'm happy to say that's
what happel%'énd I think he deserved it. He did a real
splendid job{fin my opinioﬁ} for the college in continuing
the physzical development of the €ollege that his father
had done years before. We got a tremendous amount of
building funds in thOSSi gg}s I was on the Board of
Visitors. Governor Almond appointed me in '58,a§§ served
for four years and then Governor Harrison r?i%ppointed
me from then until I retired in '66. That was a period
of great growth for the eollege\f%here were three things
“to s

that I particulady wanted done in the physical plant

when I went on the board. One was a student ynion bailding;



28

the second was a library, a real good 1ibrary} $he third
was a coliseum to house our sports program. I put those
in that order, . We did get the Student center first then
the library, and finally the plans had already been

drawn for William and Mary Hall when I went off the
board. I think they were three o the most badly needed
facilities that we had. \{~5:\btx§§ library today and remembering
the kind of library my dear old friend, Dr. Swem, had,
I know that his spirit must be proud to know that a
library;sthe@ like that today, and Id vather see-my
name on a plate in that library than any place I know
of .

Williams: You memtioned - you were appointed to the board-
first by Governor Almond; why do you think you were
appointed?

Andrews: GOvernors make appointments to public bodies like that
for several reasons. One is, of course, personal friendship.
Second, he needs to lave somebody-"in this case an alumus
of the institution—-who has a real interest in it and
will not just be attending meetings, eating meals,
voting "yes" or “no;' and leaving. I have been a good
friend of Judge Almondy ‘we call him Judge Almond because

the. hustings courb heie in Rosnoke ad assistants
he had been a judge of/\ ‘ : '

commonwesbth's etborney, so ﬁ\‘@bﬁawm@wbd&l oty . Whon-tht
~o/ place after George Scott Shackelford retired frgmk the en EUS veolacy

board, my friends and the alumni here in Roanoke put
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forward myg name ?and Governor Almond zppointed me.

As far as continuing another four years; that's

more or less a matter of formality. I don't think any

governor refuses to r{?appoint somebody if he has done

a fairly decent job. Of course, I knew Governor Harrison)
too.(i{ 've known every governor of Virginia since Byrd.)
My interest has always been in government, being a
newspapezf:man. (I majored in fyolitical Science and also
in Bnglish. )

Williams: The Colleges of William and Mary were set up under

- hough

Governor Almond) and they were disiolved [ even «the report
came out under Governor Almond's administration,
I think it just went through the &ssembl@ after Governor
Harrison became governor. Is there a causal relationship
there?

Andrews: No, I don't think so. What happerrﬂfwas that there were
some influences that wanted to see RPI, and the Norfolk
d{ 'vison divorced from the Gollege so that they could
become sepsrate institutions. That feeling was beginning.
Part of it undoubtedly was an antagonism toward Chandler,
because as a military man he was kind of&iw bt)xt he
always said what he thought. There was never any doubt
about what Alvin Chandler thought,te—this-dayz To me ,

that's an admirable quality; I hate anybody who beats
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around the bush. That was basically the cause of the

breaking up of the Colleges of William an%iary\izs

you know, the board appointed me as a spokesman to

opposefefnd I did the best I could in pointing out the
advantages of remaining under the William and Mary wing:
’ﬁhey would certainly have a greater reputation being

a part of William and Mary, which was internationally

known, and whose degrees are respected ever;mhe:z:-ej3

whereas if they became institutions on their own

it would take them quite a‘fj:hile to build that up.

Also, I feli that the two community colleges~- we called
them junior colleges, two-year additions«~ that they

should remain under the ¢ollege. I predicted then that

this separation and the creation of these separate institutions
was going to create a greater competition for the

tax dollar and that it would be spreading the state's

money thinner and thinner a1l the time, as these institutions
triedto get everything that William and Mary had--and more.
That's exactly what has happ% each one has tried +to

grow on its own and compete with all the other state
institutions, William and Mary being just one of

fourteen four-year institutions that the s*bgte was
supporting, and now there are more than th;—i?:?h‘?t) = aueSSB‘
hurts evzrybody in the long ru:a3 the money is spread

so thin That is coming right back to us now in-thst
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not
There is justngnough money to do the things we need
t0 build the physical facilities and so on. Cf

course, the General Assembly went ahead; they took the

%ie“s&ﬁbmm
bull by the horms and broke ,up,L oW, 1 guess
Christopher Newport hag become a four-year. That's another
Hoted <o
thing I pointes out: thet . one thing we didn't
A

need was another four-year institution hé&ﬁi?ay between
Williamsburg and Norfolk. It stretched matters entirely
too thin, and I stillythink 50, I think there is room

for a good community college there, just as we established,
but not for another four-year institution just

twenty-five miles from Williamsburg or closer than that
to Norfolk.

Nid your committee think that there might be a way to
influence the General Assembly)or after the state
councii*recommended that the Colleges be split was

it a forgone conclusion?

Andrews: We knew that the cards were stacked against us, and I

would have ;réfegéd t0 have somebod?iigldo the talking
for our board.Since the job was wished on me I did

the best I could. I made some predictions then that have
held up. I don't know exactly what they had in mind

b
in the beginning ébgmﬁ~creating another big university
¥ i

there, butﬁherewas nothing Whatsoeveryéommon between

’

RPI and the Medical College of Virginia. The forced union
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of the two .is resented to this day by nearly all of
the graduates of the Medical College of Virginia.
They're not even close together physically speaking, and
they!re even farther gpart in every other way you can

2 A
think& but it's happe%(%nd we're stuck with it; so is
Virginia and the taxpayers.

Boing back to 1960 when Dr Paschall was elecked -
Williams: &fter the great uproar which there was in 1951 when the

119
Admiral was brought in without consulting outside the
board, did the board you were on in 1960 think of this
when Dr.Paschall was appeinted?
T don't Know how many membens
Andrews: Well, I think some of us d:ml.,L talked to othr alumni
and asked them their ideas; I know . I did to see
who they thought would be a good man, if that happened .
Of course, when the time came. we had to move fairly
fast,. Me knew that"Pat’Paschall was a fine educator.
He attende;i§;1lege right after I did ; we were not in
school together, but I knew enough about him to know that
he waéi;ble educator and would do a good job. Probably
ong

in the wake of Chandler's Administration, being from

a disciplinary standpoint, it would be well .to have

someone like Paschall to take the job,. He was very
the states tonls ‘
happy to move from , to Williamsburg, . It

reny . Iahis lsber years
proved to be a&good ch01ce.4§e ran into the same troubles

than were happening to Chandler in his day, except that

during Pat's administration we had this hullaballou
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over Vietnam and the war in general. He held the

line pretty well, I think, in pointing out that he
wasn't going to permit the disruption of Gollege
activities just because somebody wanted to demonstrate
how they felt about what was going on in national
affairs. The two were not even closely related. Thatts
where a good many institutions across the state and
across the nation made a mistake: . not drawing the
line about using the institutions as a weapon to
fight national policy. Things are not done that way;
that wasn!t why educational institutions were begun
in the first place. It may happen in other countries,
particularly in Burope and Asia where students try to
run everything; the result is that they don't have
good institutions. They spend more time on their

politics and ideological protests than on their studies.

Williams: You mentioned the board split on the subject of separation

Andrews: The

of the Colleges. I wonder how serious, how deep that

was? Was it &yc\,ee@ aokﬂ@so@}\:d&l {sSue,or wass T mertely

QX dt-ﬂ?erenae o@— c@?n.‘ov\) de Yoy *—th“n&(_?

majority favored - continqring thqéystem as it was

and giving it a chance. Tt never had a chance; it was

only in existence two years. The majority felt like it
ass

deserved a chance to prove itself, and part of that
1

Admiral Chandler as @hancellor. But there were others

who felt that,”Well, good rié?ﬁce‘ [Pk ovt from upder
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it . We don't want any part of E?ﬁ; which some

of them called an institution of hippies, probably with
good reason. As pou know, it grew out of a school of
soctal work. We tried to make it into an educational
institution and I think we pretity well succeeded; it was

)
~Hhan
a lot different institution when it left us‘?hen I was

We had .
on the boardt\ﬁpgood man,"George Oliver; we put him
in there to take over after Dr. Hibbs retired . Dr. Hibbs
was a dear old man and had a lot ef ability along
his particular line,but there again he was not a full-
fledged educator and he was not a very good administrator. Se
Oliver had a problem when he took over)and he did a
magnificent job. He laid the groundwork so that they
could have a fairly decent institution when they were
separsted, and he continued in that capacity,as you
know. There was no real bitter fight on the board about
this divison)ahd we got along very well in spife of the
difference of opinion. I think they all appreciated
the job that I tried to do for them in convincing t:he
General Assembly, which already had its mind made up.
Williams: Did you go to Richmond and try to sell the idea?
Andrews: Yes. There I ren into this problem: This was handled in

a very high~handed fashion in the Genersl Assembly.
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In the House of Deleg:ates, the thing was ?j:m%%mough

withouti;;’knowing anything sbout it. I found then that

it hadn't gotten very far in the Senate; that's when I

made the contacts teo insist that we be given a public

hearing, which we had not had from the House of D dgegates;

we were never invited to a committee meeting or anything. Ot foard
didn't know anything about it except through the

grapevine. The Senate very courteously gave us a full

hearing jand that's when I presented the case. After

some time they went ahead and joined the House of

Delegates,and that wiped out the Colleges of William

)
and Mary.
Williams: Had it been assumed when it was set up and the top
position was to be the chancello£i“%ie Admirasl would
become that top person ,or was there a thought that
he would stay at William and Mary and someone else would
becom%rguperior?
Andrews: He was not anxious to leave William and Mary as president,
but at the insistance of the board, which pointed out
to him that he would be &hancellor with higher pay and
would be the head man of a group of five

Lhe decided
schools, ,that it was probably the best thing for iim

4\
Co . do. We had no way of knowing that it wouldn't last,
thakr
of course,ait was just a two-year flash in the pan.

It was one of the most unfortunate chapters in the history

of higher education in Virginia that#at was done the
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Way it was done. In the first place, we didn't ask for
the system. In the second place, Lord kncuz we didn't
ask for it to be broken up after just two years without
any opportunity to be proven.
A nitvbe Bgo we Stacked talking abovt expansien,and T said we'd tome baekvo
Willlams.AI know that youwere an outspoken opponent of the architecture what,
on the Ksw campus; you were very much upset over that.
Andrews: I raised hell several times about that with the apchitects
and everybody else I could reach. They were forcing a
new type of architecture on us that had nothing in
common with the so-called Wren architecture of the
@1ld ¢ollege.f was particularly irritated in that the
Scabte Art. Commission was trying to persue the feeling
of some in the General Assembly that this Wren architecture
gould not be continuved because it was too costly, with
its dormer windows and hipz‘roofs and so on . At the
same time, they permltted VPI . to continue
their construction oﬁéfone, which costs a whole lot
more than brick, and go up and use these dormer windows anckingfioc$3
in aﬁot of their buildings. Somebodyﬁa;w; to
put it over with the General Assembly and to let them
continue their style of architecture, But here we were,

with the state's most historic institution5with a type

of architvecture that goes all the way back to England,
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not permitted to continue with that and having to
accept what they called modified Georgian. Before
I went on the board, this monstosity called Yates Hall
had been built; that rubbed me the wrong way.and a lob
of others. I guess I talkﬁyore about it because maybe
my aesthetic sensesvgfébre damaged that sowme of the
others. I like things to be harmoniousxand I feel that
the new campus, while it is beautiful in itself, doesn't
oo well
harmonizgkwith the old, I'm glad it is separated by
the gell and a little more space; otherwise it wouldn'i
look good at all. I say that.rememberingigﬁgy had built
a couple of buildingf the first gy@%sium, which became the
Marshall-Wythe school*and the old Science Hall} thedy
didn't look like the Wren architecture either, but they
became so old and decrepit that they were torn down.
Then the rest of the ¢ld gampus was completed in the
Wren theme. I think in the defense of the architects,
with whom I argned with a great deal, that they did a
pretty good job, the best they could with this new type of
architectur%;zgﬁé;iigéiggcéb themselves, knowing that
they couldn't use the hig%%oof and dormer windows. I
particularly liked the new Ph i Beta Kappa building,
which is very nice, and the auditorium is very splendid;
the addition of Andrews Hall to that, the library-~-all

of that hag helped set a theme for the new campus that
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is very good. I'm becoming more reconciled to it
because I have to, but fi?égret that it couldn't have
been all alike, because we have it for a whole
They sBy
future. 4 public buildings only last seventy-five
years, but I think they bullt some of them better in
the good. old days, when they bullt three-foot walls.
Williams: It strikes me tha#Dr. Paschall was&qtraoﬁdlmyﬁh skillful
in getting the approé%ations for the wew dampus. I wonder
why he couldn't get just a little more for the Georgianlarehitedstire’
Do you think it was the mood of the times? The economy mmybe?
Andrews: The economy and the feeling in the General Assembly)
and lack of really thinkinz it out on the part
of the State Ar% Comslssion; they could have done more
for us if they wanted to, but I can't remember if
William and Mary had any real friends on that art
commission or not.it is regreﬁi;:able that things happened
the way they did.
Williams: To what would you attribute Dr. Paschall's skill that
I spoke of?
Andrews: Pat, having been in the gtate superintendency, got to

know every member of the 1egislature)and consequently

he knew all of the top officials and middle officials

of the whole state government, e was a personable
—~ well Hked.
manp He had this dry sense of humor and this

slow-paced drawl plus a brilliant mind. He managed %o

~to che 6>eoﬁ>le, whe coumtbed In QCQRMcnd :
put over his point A the governors, the
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General Assembly, and everybody else. I think he did
Lor the college.

a real fine jdb& I have a great affection for Pat;
he couldn't have done better.
How active a role did the bozrd take in the construction
matters? It seems there was great deal of detail presented
to the board as I look through the minutes.
We reviewed the plans of every building. In the first place,
we told them what we wanted after the Administration
(%he president, working with the Loard) decided what we
needed to have. That's when I made my personal priorities
on the things that I menb(oﬁed > and I'm glad to say that
everybody went alorg with it. That enabled us to build
according to our needs as fast as we could get the money.
Thz board would meet with the architects, Wright, Jones,
and Wilkerson; we would meet with them and discuss what
we needed in a building: admitting that we couldn't go
ahead with the Wrenxmrchitecture3;;;<§et the nicest looking
buildings we could. Then we hit on this modified Georgian,
as they call it. Frequently they would bring things in

taise our hsaMes abovc
that we would and insist be changed. I remember
in particular the batile over trying to keep the lobby
in DuPont Hall. It was a beantiful thing and really the
heart of the whole dormitory. It had a beautiful enty ance

was :
anq&utilitarian in every respect. We were about to have
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that pulled out, dnd I just insisted that be left
because it wouldn't look too good without it. That
happé%?bn most of the buildings. We did go over the
plans pretty thoroughly; they would come down and
spend maybe a whole morning discussing the architecture
of a building with us. I think we felt the necessity
of doing this as a result of the Yates Hall fiasce¢.
Somdi?ay that building will have to come down and
be replaced; it doesn't fit in3and it just isn't
built rigzpt, I never found a student who lived
in it that liked it at all; they all hate it.
S0 as a result of that we felt .we had to keep our
noses to the grindstone as an overseeing authority
on the architecturs and get the best we could for
the money that was available. I think the results
speak for themselves.
Williams: 0€ginally, it's mggmpression theet William and Mary
did not particuarly want the two two-year colleges,
Andrews: My recollection of that is that the board was not
particularly anxious to haws these schools, but it
did recognize that the problem existed for getting
at least the first two years of college to more Virginia
young people. This was well in advance of the ¢ommunity

@ollege system. Therefore, 1égas necessary, we finally
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admitted ;to have something like this, and we tried

our best to set those two schools up so they would

be respectable adjuncts of William and Mary. Anyone

who attended there could come on to William and Mary
for his last two years and . . we would know that

the work given there would be commepsuvecbee: to what was
done in Williamsburg. I think gradually weféame
reconciled to the fact that we had to have i%\emn3 So
we set them up. Of course, that became a part of the
Colleges of William and Mary. Wé:gfill got Richard
Bland. I still don't approvefseperating Christopher
Newport; I didn't approve(fmaking itjfourwyeam schoo |
because ther-was no real necessity for it. (:ﬁ‘ s

Just competing for the tax dollar, of which we have

too few.

Did the coordination of the two branches again, as there
had been two branches eariiei‘: h&s {h&‘% t:er:gl problem?
Do you think that William and Mary would have been
bette;f;ithout #42%hem ¢

Things have changed since I went off the board. I've
been off ten years; it's hard for me to realize that.

So times have changed and I have not kept the contact

)
that I would have liked w 3th thexe -  two schools, L asa't hazacd

an opinion new. I suppose that Richard Bland is
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going to continue. in the foreseeable future as a
branch of William and Mary, particularly in light of
the putdown they had by the courts over becoming four-
year. They either will remain a part of William and
Mary or eventually be transfeg%d.to the ¢ommunity
¢ollege System. I believe, from what I know that

they prefer very much to stay where they are because
the transfer factor is there>and they claim a relationship
to a nationally and internationally knouwn college that
they wouldn't have simply as another among twenty~

odd community colleges. I think there is a great
difference, way be not actuallyi;%éﬁiritual situation
between the two.

Williams:  Apnother general development over these years that
you were on the board is the expansion of programs.

The board invariably approved programs presented to
them, graduate ér other offerings : - . I wonder,
knowing some of the d¢iscussior that went on in other
quarters, if the board also felt that this was changing
the orientation of William and Mary?

Andrews: I have always had in the back of my mind ard had for
many years{ even before I got on the Alumni board,
which was before my Board of Visitors experience“:>
the hope that William and Mary would once again recover

Univets’ ,
itst\status. It was in-anarea—of-the-stat€’ : the
b
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only thing east of Charlottesvillg)so- to -speak,

in the position to be a universi%ybwhich would have
schools. We alrea. .y had. the law school, but as I
understand it to be a university the college needs

to have five schools. Nowadays it's gotten to the point

St 2 wide p\sae,, inthe road

where every institutioné\ calls itself

a university « You and I both know that that

is not th%gase; they are not universities by any
steetch of the imagination. William and Mary had

a heritage in the fact that it was the first university
in America, and I wanﬁ#to see it recover that.

So I did support this business of establishing
certain courses that would fit in with the overall
purpose of William and Mary .in remainrgn academic
institution of the fine arts. I didn't want it to be
another VEI or anything like that, but I did want to
have a sufficient, broad scope in the courses that
were taught that it could be a university. I think

the vast majority of the board felt the same way.

Fighting
- for

ii There was only one course that I kept
and I still haven't managed to sell © anyone
on>“ and that is a first-rate course in library

science at William and Mary, becavse there is none
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Ancreust

Lk

;n Virginia; they've got an excuse for one up here
in Madison. The pewess thet ie" refuse to go %%?th
that idea and have: *~ to this day. I've tried
to point out to them how difficult it is to find
competent, trained librarians in Virginia; not just
in main libraries, but in high schools. Here in
Roancke, for example, every time they want a librarian,
they almost always have to go out-of-state to find
one. That's silly when you have a state this big
and comparitiéiy as wealthy as it is not to have a
first-rate course in library science, particularly
e

when yog‘ got one of the finest libraries anywhere

in Virginia and the scutheast. It kind of irks me that

it hasn't been done; I guess you can't have everything.

Is there anything I need to cover that youi’fl;};ink of ?

I guess you've investigzated all my background while I

was in college, the things I did and didn't do.

I kept pre‘t‘bf busy . All the time I was in college

I managed to work in the dining hall.\By the way, another

way I made money (was that] I fired  the furamce
Crestd .

in the frayternity house for my room, My chief recollection

of that is that I kept telling the house manager that
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something had to be done about that so-called
furace. It wms coal-fired{ they didn't have stokers)
and it was going to blow up some day if they didntt

.-,

do something about it. One day it digt —— 2



Well, this furnace blew up one morning, and it
just covered me with soot from head to foot. Of
course, 1t made such a noise that everyone came
running to the head of the steps to look dé%ﬁgg;gﬁseme“t’

there I was! They said that all you could see was

these two eyes out of all this black. After they

saw that I wasn't really hart they started laugh-

ing, and that made me madder than ever. Somé;ﬁzﬂhem

laughed so hardthe got down and rolled on the floor.

I had the second laugh, particularly on the house

manager, because they had to have all of the rugs

and draperies in the house cleaned,and nearly every-

body had to have their clothes cleaned. It was a

case of being penmny-wise and pound-foolish, I think,

In addition to doing that and working in the

dining hall, 1 worked every summer at various jobs.

One summer I worked as a rigger in the shipyard gt.mﬁ%hft““ewgv

Another one I worked in the bank as a runner, . .
Williams: What does a runner in a bank do?
Andrews: He carries checks from one bank to another, particularly

bad checks, and various notes and accounts that have to

beé interchanged among the bankis. I worked for an

optician one summer--I had four different jobs while

I was in school, But while I was in school I was

waiting on tables and fiping the furnace, and of

course I had my activities on the Flat Hat and was
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a debater and on the track team. Just looking
back on it I wonder how I ever had time to do
anything else or have any social life at all.
But I enjoyed it and think back on my college days
as 1 guess just about everybody does with a great
deal of pleasure. 1 think about not only the
students 1 attended college with (and many of
them I have kept contact with all these years),
not just fraternity brothers)butcxhers;i.,a

The faculty who influenced me most (I men-
tioned some of them)and I was trying to jot down
some of them here awhile ago). I mentioned Dr.
Babcock, of course, and Ppllard and Morton. dr,
Swem was a wonderful friemd, and of course, I
needn't tell you that he had the reputation of
being one of the finest librarians in the country.
He did marvels with what he had in that little
library (even when he got that stack rwom, which
everyone thought was so wonderful). I knew him
the rest of his life., There was a unanimous feel-
ingkthat library should be named for him. He's
the man who designed all the historical markers
on the highways of the state.

Then of course Dr, John Lesslie Hall was the

last of the 'Seven Wise Men." 1 guess everyone



thought he was going to be there permanently. I don't
know when he did retire--he signed my degree. Some-
time after that he retired. He was a real character,
among other things.

Williams: Do you have anyﬁoqaw: Dr. Hall stories? I have a
whole collection of them. I'm fond of them.

Andrews: Well, back there in the '20s when I was in college
was a day of the real short skirts, almost as short
as the miniskirts. (The skirts usuallyhit the girls
at the knee or above, and they had the very ugly
custom of rolling their hose down to the knee.
When they sat down they showed a little expanse of
bare leg.) Well, Dr. Hall (he secemed to me to be a
real old guy, even then) never wasii ~favor of coedu-
cation, I understood. When he had these classes)
some of the girls would insist on sitting in the
front tow. Imagine what happened when, with the
new styles, they crossed their 1egsi He stood it

One dn

about asylong as he could, anq\he ooked down at
one of the coeds in partieular, and he said,
"Young lady, pull your dress down. I'll have
you to know that an old man's got some feelings."
She turned about forty shades of red-~-I don't
know if she ever sat on the front row again oﬁ

not.
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He had aAhigh-pitched, nasal voice, and he liked

to tell stories about the good old days; every-
body enjoyed hearing them. While he was a tough
man in the classroom he was a wonderful person to
get to know, as so many of us did. He was just an
institution in himself, 1ef%iver from back in the
last century. He was just a rare article, and I
thought a great deal of him,

The other man that I mentioned whom we haven't
already talked about was W.A.R. Goodwin. Everyone
knows him as the man who persudded Rockefeller to
restore Williamsburg, and he did a magnificent job.
That, incidentally, started in the fall after I
graduated, so I wasn't in on that. I knew Dr.
Goodwin “very well, and .when I wasn't singing at
the Presbyterian church I went down to Bruton Parish.
My chief recollectionszof him is walking around the
campus and downtown with his pipe. I neyer saw
that manjwithout a pipe in hig mouth, except in
church, and T wondered how he managed to get by then.
It was jgst part of him., He was a most persuasive
talker and a good storyteller and believed in what
he felt was his mission: to see that Williamsburg
was restored. I suppose not only Williamsburg, but
the college as a result of it, owes him an eternal

debt, If that hadn't happened the President's

to b&b&j

? )
House and the Wren Building and the Braffertonﬁgouldn‘t
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have been restored., They looked a good deal differ-

ent in the old days. (Looks through 1927 Colonial Echo.)

William and Mary's a graat place, and I go back
every chance I get, which doesn't seem often enough
any more, My wife thinks I'm a professional freshman.
Between being on the alumni board and my serwice on
the Board of Visitors I was there constantly for
fourteen years., It just became a part of me,.

Well, I thank you for taking time to talk about it

today,
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